RECEIVED

Mar 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025-000047

Robert William Goodwin and
Marian Charlene Goodwin, Appellants.

v.

April Desiree Chappell, individually and as
agent for Swift Transportation Company of
Arizona, LLC, and Swift Transportation
Company of Arizona, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Donald L. Chuck Allen
Joshua C. B. Allen
Austin G. McLain
Allen & Allen Law Firm, LLC
PO BOX 2861
Anderson, SC 29622
864-226-6184
Attorneys for Appellants

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court improperly exclude relevant evidence pursuant to Rules 401 and 402 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence?
- II. Did the Circuit Court improperly refuse to charge a valid principle of law when the Plaintiff requested a “duty to warn” charge based on *Matthews v. Porter*, 239 S.C. 620, 124 S.E.2d 321 (1962)?
- III. Was the Circuit Court’s jury charge on proximate cause sufficient as to give a clear understanding of South Carolina law regarding proximate cause to the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 5, 2021, Robert William Goodwin and Marion Charlene Goodwin brought this action against April Desiree Chappell, individually, and as an agent for Swift Transportation Company of Arizona, LLC, and Swift Transportation Company of Arizona, LLC alleging negligence, vicarious liability, negligent hiring and supervision, and loss of consortium. The Defendants timely answered the complaint with multiple defenses ultimately denying any liability. On November 30, 2023, the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was heard and subsequently denied by Order of the Honorable Lawton McIntosh. On October 28, 2024 a trial by jury commenced. On November 4, 2024 the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendants which found negligence but not proximate cause. On January 8, 2025, Plaintiff's served and filed a notice of appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission or exclusion of evidence or the decision of the circuit court as to particular jury instructions is within the discretion of the circuit court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Carson v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 221, 734 S.E.2d 148 (S.C. 2012) CITING *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 434, 673 S.E.2d 448, 457 (2009); and *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663, S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008).

The decision on what law is instructed to the jury is within the discretion of the trial court. An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court committed an abuse of discretion. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the Circuit Court are either controlled by an error law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions. *Kirakides v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cty*, 382 S.E. 8, 20, 675 S.E.2d 439, 445 (2009).

FACTS

April Chappell was hired and trained by Swift Trucking Company (Swift) as a driver to operate tractor trailers and ultimately completed the “Swift Academy” on November 27, 2020. (R. at p. 86-95; Trial Tr. 568:15 – 577:7) Swift subsequently released her to drive solo, and on December 2, 2020, she began her maiden trip that would take her from Columbia, SC north to Huntersville, NC and then south towards Atlanta, GA. (R. at p. 95; Trial Tr. 577:8 - 22) While traveling south from Huntersville, NC towards Atlanta, GA on Interstate 85, she stopped for fuel at a Pilot Truck Stop in Piedmont, SC. (R. at p. 96; Trial Tr. 578) When leaving the Pilot Truck Stop to return to her route on Interstate 85, April Chappell instead turned onto Highway 86 (a 2 lane state road) heading west towards Wren Drive, a residential street and neighborhood. (R. at p. 96; Trial Tr. 578) Chappell then made an improper turn, running off the road and hitting a guy wire, pulling a live power line down to the pavement across Highway 86. (R. at p. 96-97; Trial Tr. 578 – 579) Chappell then stopped, got out to see what she had done, got back into her vehicle, moved a short distance, contacted her employer by phone and did nothing more. (R. at p. 96-97; Trial Tr. 578 – 579)

At the time, Robert “Bill” Goodwin and his wife owned a parcel of property on Highway 86 directly across from Wren Drive where April Chappell caused the dangerous road blockage. (R. at p. 65-67; Trial Tr. 394 – 396) On December 2, 2020, the Goodwins were at their home when their power went out because of the downed power line. (R. at p. 66; Trial Tr. 395) Mr.

Goodwin left the home and headed toward Highway 86 where he discovered what had occurred and noticed that traffic was backing up on Highway 86. (R. at p. 68; Trial Tr. 397) After seeing that a Wren volunteer fire truck had arrived, as a 40 year traffic controller who had assisted the Wren Volunteer Fire Department in the past, he spoke with a volunteer fireman on site and asked if they could use help re-routing traffic. (R. at p. 68; Trial Tr. 397) After confirming the fire department could use help directing traffic, Mr. Goodwin went to the intersection of Highway 86 and Major Road, approximately a fifth of a mile from where the guy wire had been struck, to reroute traffic down Major Road so motorists could avoid the dangerous conditions at Wren Drive. (R. at p. 68-73; Trial Tr. 397 – 402).

While directing and rerouting traffic, Mr. Goodwin was struck by another motorist, causing catastrophic injuries, resulting in medical expenses of about Three Million Five Hundred Thousand (\$3,500,000.00) Dollars. His injuries included loss of internal organs (spleen, kidney, appendix, colon), multiple leg fractures, loss of both knees, massive blood loss, facial fractures, nasal fracture, and loss of use of various bodily functions, and PTSD, among other injuries. The injuries resulted in multiple hospital admissions and severe permanent disabilities requiring perpetual care.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SWIFT TRUCKING COMPANY'S MOTION IN LIMINE REGARDING STUDENT DRIVER TRAINING PAPERWORK

Prior to the trial in the present case, Swift filed a motion in limine asking the Court to exclude training records of driver April Chappell. The Court heard the motion prior to testimony but ultimately instructed Swift to raise their objection to the evidence when presented in testimony. (R. at p. 45-64; Trial Tr. 27:11 - 46:12) Prior to the testimony of Plaintiff's trucking safety standard expert, David Dorrity, the Court granted Swift's motion and required Plaintiff's Exhibit 14 to be redacted in part prior to being entered into evidence. (R. at p.74-84; Trial Tr. 441:15 – 451:23) The original "Student Driver Training Paperwork" was entered as Court's Exhibit 6 for the record.

South Carolina Law states that "All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina." Rule 402, SCRE. *Proctor v. DHEC*, 368 S.C. 279, 515, 628 S.E.2d 279, 313-314 (Ct. App. 2006). "Relevant evidence" is defined in Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is

of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE.

In the Complaint filed in the present case, Plaintiffs, among other causes of action, asserted that Swift was negligent in the hiring, training and supervision of their employees, specifically driver April Chappell. During the presentation of the Plaintiff’s case the jury heard testimony of the training program Swift uses for their new drivers. During the training Swift keeps records of the progress the trainee driver is making and specifically notes what needs to be corrected or what additional training is necessary.

In the present case, Plaintiffs attempted to enter a written training record into evidence. During Swift’s Motion in Limine, the focus was on the third section of the document. Swift argued that because the third section’s header read “Provide feedback of any additional backing development needed at each benchmark BTW hours” (behind the wheel) the document wasn’t relevant because the case did not involve backing. However, when reviewing the handwritten notes at benchmark BTW 200, the driver trainer stated “... major over correction... will benefit from close quarters training.” *See* Court’s Ex. 6 (R. at p. 151). The notes do not specify that driver April Chappell required additional training in backing, rather, the trainer used a general term of “close quarter training.” It is also important to note that this was the last entry made on this document. The document was signed by the driver trainer and April Chappell on November 26, 2020 and November 27, 2020,

respectively. This was only 5 days prior to April Chappell being released as a solo driver and driving her truck off the road.

Based on his review of the training documentation, Plaintiff's expert on trucking safety opined that Swift should not have allowed April Chappell to drive solo based on their knowledge of her deficiencies in close quarters driving.

Plaintiffs sought to admit this record into evidence to demonstrate that Swift knew or should have known that April Chappell would drive in a dangerous or otherwise unsafe manner, and that with that knowledge, Swift failed to adequately train or supervise her.

When applying the standard of SCRE Rule 401 and 402 it is clear that this document is relevant. The document clearly states that April Chappell "[would] benefit from close quarters training" and this evidence would have a "tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. Because the "Student Driver Training Paperwork" is relevant, it is admissible pursuant to SCRE Rule 402. Further, regardless of whether the third section was related to backing, the document as a whole indicates the driver's overall training and her inability to safely operate a tractor trailer and is therefore relevant.

Had this record been admitted into evidence to show that Swift knew about her unfitness to drive the jury could have properly weighed the facts and evidence presented to

determine whether Swift was, in fact, negligent in their hiring, training and supervising of their employee. Accordingly, this record should have been admitted in its entirety and submitted to the jury as relevant evidence.

For the reasons set forth above, the Plaintiffs contend that the Court's decision to grant Swift's Motion in Limine regarding the "Student Driver Training Paperwork" was an abuse of discretion controlled by an error of law. In so ruling, the jury was prevented from fully and fairly considering the entirety of the evidence demonstrating the Defendants' gross and wanton negligence in this matter, and Plaintiffs were denied the justice they so demonstrably deserve. Accordingly, this was reversible error and the Plaintiffs are entitled to a new trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY ON THE COMMON LAW DUTY TO WARN

Based on the evidence presented, at the close of testimony, counsel for the Plaintiffs requested a jury instruction on a driver's common-law duty to warn approaching motorists when the driver has negligently caused traffic to be obstructed, as provided in *Matthews v. Porter*, 239 S.C. 620, 124 S.E.2d 321 (1962). The Defendants argued, and the Court accepted, that this duty did not apply due to the fact that Ms. Chappell had moved her truck to another street, and further, had been relieved of her duty due to the fact that the volunteer fire department had arrived on scene. (R. at p. 135; Trial Tr. 963:4-20)

In *Matthews v. Porter*, the appellant Mr. Porter was in an automobile accident that caused the blockage of a roadway, specifically, Porter's vehicle blocked the eastbound lane of travel on Highway 76. *Matthews v. Porter*, 239 S.C. 620, 623 (1962). The respondent, Mrs. Matthews, was traveling in the westbound lane with her husband and ultimately stopped to give aid and assistance to someone who was on scene. *Id.* While on scene, another vehicle, operated by Lewis McKnight, traveling on the eastbound lane skidded sideways and ultimately struck Mrs. Matthews, pinning her between his car and the one operated by Mr. Porter. *Id.*

The appellant in *Matthews* argued that although he did not do anything to warn other motorists of the road blockage, that duty had been alleviated or relinquished to others. *Id.* at 630.

The Court rejected that argument. Specifically, the Court pointed out that even though there was testimony that there were other individuals on the road side with flashlights warning drivers, and by the time the second collision occurred (Lewis McKnight hitting Mrs. Matthews), law enforcement was on scene and had “intervened” between the negligence of Porter and the second collision, that “one upon whom the law devolves a duty cannot shift it to another, so as to exonerate himself from the consequence of its performance.” *Id.* (citing 38 Am.Jur., Negligence, sec. 13, page 655). More specifically, “it was [the appellant’s] duty to warn others motorists of the dangerous condition he had created. He could not delegate that duty to another, even though it was a law enforcement officer, and escape the consequences for its nonperformance.” *Id.* Finally, the *Matthews* Court pointed out that “the arrival and taking charge by the police were circumstances to be considered but could not be said as a matter of law to have cut off the effect of the prior negligence.” *Id.*

Similarly, in the present case, Ms. April Chappell admittedly ran her tractor-trailer off the road, striking a guy wire which ultimately pulled down the power line, resulting in a complete and dangerous blockage of Highway 86. (R. at p. 115-118; Trial Tr. 597:25 – 600:12) She made no attempt to undertake any of her duties to warn approaching motorists. Ms. Chappell testified that she did not set out any cones, or warning triangles, nor did she make any attempt in any way to warn approaching motorists of the roadway blockage and the live power line. More specifically, when questioned on any actions she took, much like in the *Matthews* case, she relied on the fact that the volunteer fire department had been called and was present to warn other drivers stating “the fire department blocked [Highway 86] off.” (R. at p. 119-122; Trial Tr.

609:21 – 612:3) It should also be noted that during the time that it took the fire department to arrive at the scene that Swift's driver could have been warning approaching motorists.

The *Matthews* Court was clear that drivers have a duty to warn others of dangerous conditions that are a result of their negligence. In the present case, had Ms. Chappell taken the appropriate actions, as was her duty as prescribed in *Matthews v. Porter*, the volunteer fire department could have blocked off the other section of the highway at Major Road, and Mr. Goodwin's assistance would not have been necessary.

A jury should be instructed on sound principles of law that are applicable to a case and a Court's refusal to do so is an abuse of discretion which is reversible error requiring a new trial. *Sanders v. Western Auto Supply Co.*, 256 S.C. 490, 497, 183 S.E.2d 321 (S.C. 1971). In the present case, when testifying about the duty to warn, the driver stated "she had no duty to warn because the fire department was there" and the Court agreed. (R. at p. 135; Trial Tr. 963:1-20) Further, the Court stated that "...even if she had, it wouldn't have prevented that..." referring to Ms. Chappell's inaction. (R. at p. 137; Trial Tr. 965:8-9). The *Matthews* Court made it clear that the presence of even law enforcement "securing the scene" does not alleviate someone of a duty prescribed by law. Further, whether or not something could have been prevented or the foreseeability of the consequences of someone's inaction is a question of fact that the jury should decide. The Court in the present case abused its discretion since its refusal to charge the jury on the duty to warn was controlled by an error of law.

The jury should have been instructed on the Defendants' duty to warn, as set forth in *Matthews v. Porter*, so they could properly weigh her breach of that duty and the consequences

that followed in the contemplation of their verdict. By refusing this jury charge, the Court denied the jury the full and fair opportunity to weigh the facts presented under the law set forth in *Matthews*, to determine that *but for* the Defendants' breach of this duty, Mr. Goodwin would not have had to assist with traffic control and would not have been on the roadway that evening in any capacity; and, as a *foreseeable result of this breach* by the driver, the Plaintiffs were catastrophically harmed and impacted.

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S JURY CHARGE AND DEFINITION OF PROXIMATE CAUSE WAS INSUFFICIENT AND CAUSED CONFUSION FOR THE JURY

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Dantonio*, 376 S.C. 594, 609, 658 S.E.2d 337 (Ct. App. 2008). When charging the jury on negligence, and more specifically, proximate cause, the Court stated “proximate cause, ladies and gentlemen means this: it is something that produces a natural chain of events which in the end brings about the injury; it is the direct cause of the injury. (R. at p. 140; Trial Tr. 1072:6 – 13). When the Court concluded the jury charge, attorney for the Plaintiffs objected to the language used and requested the Court re-charge with appropriate language. (R. at p. 143-144; Trial Tr. 1094:9 – 1096:18) which was refused. After some jury deliberations, the jury requested to be re-charged specifically on “proximate cause” and the Court again charged the jury using the above language explaining to the jury that proximate cause is “the direct cause of the injury.” (R. at p. 144-145; Trial Tr. 1098:7 – 1099:6). Plaintiff’s counsel again objected to the language used and more specifically, the word direct. (R. at p. 147; Trial Tr. 1101:10-13).

The Court cited *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.* which states that “proximate cause is the efficient or direct cause of an injury. *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 329 S.C. 448,, 464, 494 S.E.2d 835 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added). Further, that “proximate cause does not mean the sole cause.” *Id.*

The issue with using the word direct and more specifically, the direct cause, is that it implies to the jury a singular cause, which is not in conformity with the law in South Carolina. Although the Court did ultimately charge the jury that “proximate cause does not mean the only cause” (R. at p. 140; Trial Tr. 1072:4-5), that does not negate or correct the fact they the first instruction the jury received regarding proximate cause was that it means “the direct cause.” Using language that implies a singular cause such as “the direct cause” while also instructing the jury that multiple concurring causes may exist is clearly confusing because it is logically and legally inconsistent.

In *Dantonio, Id.* the South Carolina Court of appeals acknowledged the following as the correct law to be charged on proximate cause:

“The law recognizes there may be more than one proximate cause. The acts of two or more persons may combine and concur together as an efficient or proximate cause of the [injury]. The fact that other causes also contribute to the [injury] does not relieve the defendant from responsibility.” *State v. Dantonio, Id.*, *State v. Burton, Id.* The Defendant’s act may be regarded as the proximate cause if it is a contributing cause of the [injury]. The Defendant’s act need not be the sole cause of the death provided that it be a proximate cause actually and contributing to the [injury]. *State v. Dantonio, Id* see also *State v. Burton, Id.*

The above case dealt with a criminal jury charge relating to a felony DUI case, however, the proximate cause instruction is applicable. Unlike the charge from *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, which does not clearly define proximate cause to a jury and seems to give two very different definitions, the *Dantonio* charge uses language that is clear from the outset that “the law recognizes there may be more than one proximate cause.” *State v. Dantonio, Id.* Further, the *Dantonio* charge is not contradictory and is easier for a jury to understand. Simply put, the

Dantonio charge uses clearer and more concise language to instruct a jury on the law of proximate cause and therefore, should be the language a Circuit Court uses when instructing the jury on proximate cause.

CONCLUSION

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