RECEIVED

Mar 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2021-CP-04-00234
Appellate Case No. 2025-000047

Robert William Goodwin and Marian Charlene Goodwin,

Appellants,

v.

April Desiree Chappell, individually and as agent for Swift
Transportation Company of Arizona, LLC, and Swift
Transportation Company of Arizona, LLC,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
A. Mattison Bogan
S.C. Bar No. 72629
E-mail: matt.bogan@nelsonmullins.com
1320 Main Street, FL 17
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 255-9589

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

ARGUMENT

1. Plaintiffs have failed to preserve any issue for appeal.

As stated just above, the only ground for the Plaintiffs' post-trial motion was the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. The motion was filed on November 14, 2025, within the ten days of the end of trial, per the Circuit Court's order (Tr. 1104:15-20; R. 148). The Plaintiffs then filed their notice of appeal on January 8, 2025, 27 days following the denial of their post-trial motion and 65 days following the end of trial on November 4, 2024. This argument would not have been raised had Plaintiffs also filed their post-trial motion based on Rule 59, for example, but Rule 59 is nowhere cited in the Plaintiffs' post-trial motion.

Under South Carolina law, the "Thirteenth Juror Doctrine" allows, in certain limited circumstances, the judge to step in as a fact-finder, hang the jury, dissolve the outcome of the jury's decision, and order a new trial. The Thirteenth Juror Doctrine, however, is not the vehicle by which errors of law are appealed and has no application to jury charges or questions of evidence exclusion. No cases address the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine in those contexts. Instead, all the cases involving the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine - when the motion is granted - are cases involving the judge's view of the evidence that came in at trial, that the jury considered, and that the judge agreed required a new trial in response. *Norton v. Norfolk Southern Railway Company*, 350 S.C. 473, 478, 567 S.E.2d 851, 854 (2002); *Youmans ex rel. Elmore v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 380 S.C. 263, 272, 670 S.E.2d 1, 5 (Ct. App. 2008).

Here, the Plaintiffs failed to preserve their objections to the excluded evidence and the jury charges by not 1) filing a post-trial motion raising these issues in a timely fashion under the correct Rule to toll the time to appeal or 2) appealing from the jury verdict within 30 days of the discharge

of the jury. By waiting until the ruling on the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine motion, and because it does not apply to the concepts Plaintiffs attempted to raise, nothing is preserved. The issues raised in the Plaintiff's brief were required to be appealed within 30 days of the discharge of the jury or to have been the subject of a proper post-trial motion which tolled the time to appeal. The appeal should, therefore, be summarily dismissed.

Despite the above contention, and in view of the possibility that this Court disagrees with the Defendants' above-contention, the remaining sections of this brief address the merits of the Plaintiffs' appellate arguments and raise distinct preservation issues.

2. The Circuit Court appropriately excluded irrelevant evidence related to backing of tractor-trailers because this case does not involve the backing of tractor-trailers.

The trial court "is charged with the duty of determining issues of law. As a part of this duty, the trial court serves as the gatekeeper and must decide whether the evidence submitted by a party is admissible pursuant to the Rules of Evidence as a matter of law." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174 (2010).

In discharging its gatekeeper duties, the Circuit Court properly excluded the backing portion of Court Exhibit 6 (Plaintiffs Trial Exhibit 14) (R. 151; 149) because the redacted information is irrelevant to the Plaintiffs' claims. The information that was redacted is irrelevant because this case did not, in any way, involve or touch upon the backing of tractor-trailers. Information related to Ms. Chappell's training in backing of tractor-trailers does not, in any way, foreshadow the event that brought this case before the Circuit Court. No evidence was ever presented in discovery or at the trial of this matter indicating that any "backing" had or should have occurred. Rather, Ms. Chappell consistently admitted she was turning right and proceeding forward onto Wren Drive from SC-86 when she struck the guyed wire with her trailer (Tr. 579:1-8; R. 97)

At trial, the Circuit Court charged the jury on the law related to negligent training and supervision. In considering supervisory claims such as those in this case, the jury's role is to determine whether prior conduct has a "sufficient nexus" to the ultimate harm. *Doe v. ATC, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 199, 207 624 S.E.2d 447, 451 (Ct. App. 2005). "Such cases generally turn on two fundamental elements—knowledge of the employer and foreseeability of harm to third parties." *Id.* "From a practical standpoint, these elements are analyzed in terms of the number and nature of prior acts of wrongdoing by the employee, *and the nexus or similarity* between the prior acts and the ultimate harm caused." *Id.*

The Circuit Court was right to bar the backing evidence in this case because backing is irrelevant to the harm suffered by Mr. Goodwin. The supervisory claims – which were rejected by the jury – could only be related to Swift's knowledge about Ms. Chappell's ability (or lack thereof) to engage in the negligent conduct: in this case, to make a tight right turn. Documentation related to Ms. Chappell's right turn and tight turn capabilities *was* admitted into evidence and the jury concluded even still, that the Swift Defendants were not the proximate cause of the Plaintiffs injuries. Information related to Ms. Chappell's backing skills — set off by a prompt inquiring into performance related to backing specifically — is flatly irrelevant to the Plaintiffs' claims.

The Circuit Court exercised thoughtful discretion on this issue with respect to Court Exhibit 6 (Plaintiffs Trial Exhibit 14) (R. 151; 149). The court allowed and the jury saw and considered evidence that at the one-hundred-hour mark with her driver mentor, it was determined by the mentor that "[Chappell] needs to grasp the width of a tight turn and setup properly before turning / No hitting curbs. Getting better! Still needs to pay attention to tight turns." (Court Exhibit 6 (Plaintiffs Trial Exhibit 14; R. 151; 149). Redacting text provided by the mentor in response to a separate, later and easily distinguishable prompt ("provide feedback of any additional backing

development needed”) is an appropriate decision which is not an abuse of discretion. Further, the admission of relevant evidence related to tight right turns eradicates any argument that Plaintiffs were prejudiced by the exclusion of irrelevant backing evidence.

Even if this Court disagrees that the evidence related to backing is irrelevant, the trial Court was correct to exclude the evidence according to Rule 403 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 403 permits the exclusion of relevant evidence if its probative value will be outweighed by confusion to the jury. In this matter, the Plaintiffs’ supervisory claims are grounded in whether Ms. Chappell’s prior conduct gave notice that a similar accident could occur. The case was not related to backing, and the risk of confusing a jury by introducing evidence related to backing (evidence which uses specific trucking-industry terms related to backing) outweighed the probative value of the redacted portion of Court Exhibit 6 (Plaintiffs Trial Exhibit 14) (R. 151; 149).

3. Because the principles of law set forth in *Matthews v. Porter* do not apply to the evidence developed in this case, the Circuit Court properly refused to charge the jury with a “duty to warn” as proposed by Plaintiffs.

“[T]he trial court is not required to instruct the jury on a principle of law that is irrelevant to the case as proved.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 390, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “The court is only required to charge on the law framed by the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues.” *Greenville Housing Authority of City of Greenville by Carlton v. Massey*, 281 S.C. 618, 622, 316 S.E.2d 722, 724 (1984).

In *Greenville Housing*, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s decision that it was proper for the lower magistrate court to refuse to charge the jury with law from a federal regulation setting forth that a housing agency can only terminate a resident’s lease if the resident’s actions amount to a material breach or constituted other good cause for termination. 281 S.C. 618, 618, 316 S.E.2d 722, 722 (Ct. App. 1984). This Court determined that the regulation was irrelevant to

the issues raised by the resident at the trial of the matter because the resident did not allege in the trial that the lease violated the regulation. *Id.* at 622, 316 S.E.2d at 724. Therefore, the trial court did not err when it affirmed the refusal of the magistrate judge to instruct the jury on a charge gleaned from the federal regulation. *Id.*

The same outcome is appropriate in this instance. Here, the Plaintiffs argue that a “duty to warn,” gleaned from *Matthews v. Porter*, 239 S.C. 620, 124 S.E.2d 321(1962), should have been charged to the jury. The facts of *Matthews v. Porter*, however, involved only one accident scene.

In *Matthews v. Porter*, an automobile accident led to the blockage of a lane of a highway. 239 S.C. 620, 622, 124 S.E.2d 321, 322 (1962). After the collision—and at the scene of that collision—both a passerby and a physician stopped to render aid to those involved in the collision. *Id.* Thereafter, an oncoming car struck the passerby who was rendering aid at the scene of the collision, leading to injuries. *Id.* The driver that struck the passerby at the scene of the original collision testified that it was the lack of warning about the collision scene which caused him to strike the passerby at the scene of the collision. *Id.* at 623, 124 S.E.2d at 323.

Here, Mr. Goodwin testified at trial that after obtaining permission from the Wren Fire Department at the original powerline scene at Wren Drive and SC-86, he “took his truck to Major Road.” (Tr. 398:2-4; R. 69). The intersection of Major Rd and SC-86 is .22 miles away from the intersection of Wren Drive and SC-86 and the intersections are not visible from one another. Tr. 397:15-398:4; 527:17-20; 904:23-905:17. R. 68-69; 85; 131-132). It was at the intersection of Major Road and SC-86, not at the intersection of Wren Drive and SC-86, where Mr. Goodwin was struck and injured. Therefore, the factual scenario which led to a duty to warn in *Matthews v. Porter* is wholly different than the factual scenario set forth in the trial of this matter because in *Matthews* the “good Samaritan” was injured at the same scene of the original collision, not at a

scene down the road and created by the decisions of the injured person and the individual who struck him.

Despite the factual differences between this matter and *Matthews v. Porter*, Plaintiffs asserted at trial that a duty to warn should be charged to the jury. The Circuit Court denied the request, indicating at trial, “I think in this case, we have different occurrences, separate...And where she [Chappell] was, whether or not she [Chappell] alerted anybody at the juncture [Wren Drive and 86] compared to two events or whatever that happened down the road [at Major Road and 86], doesn’t have any relevance to that at all.” (Tr. 963:13-20; R. 135). The Circuit Court continued: “the duty to warn or notice is back up to where her truck is on the side of the road [near Wren Drive and 86], not two tenths of a mile down.” (Tr. 964:10-13; R. 136). In response, the Plaintiffs indicate, “I agree. I agree. I mean, that’s our point. She [Chappell] had a duty to do something there [at Wren Drive] before the fire truck got there. (Tr. 964:14; R. 136).

Ultimately, the Circuit Court decided, “Okay, I’m not charging that. And the reason being...even if she had [warned at Wren Drive], it wouldn’t have prevented that [Goodwin’s accident at Major Road]. So I’m not going to charge that, and I think its confusing to the jury and I’m just not going to.” (Tr. 965:7-11; R. 137).

Just as in *Greenville Housing*, the trial court properly declined to provide a jury charge that was irrelevant to the case. *Matthews v. Porter* does not stand for the proposition, nor does it ensconce in law, a “duty to warn” about blocked lanes which are over two tenths of a mile away. Mr. Goodwin, unlike the individual who was injured while at the scene of the accident in *Matthews v. Porter*, was not injured at the corner of Wren Drive and SC-86 at all, much less due to a “failure to warn” by Ms. Chappell. Further, the lanes of travel were *not blocked* by any actions of the Swift Defendants at Major Road and SC-86 where Mr. Goodwin was injured. Unlike in *Matthews v.*

Porter where the oncoming car ran up onto an accident scene the driver could not see, there was no accident scene at the corner of Major Road and SC-86 where Mr. Goodwin was injured.

Additionally, as set forth above, even Plaintiffs agreed that they were asking the Circuit Court to charge a duty to warn because, in the Plaintiffs' view, Ms. Chappell should have taken steps to warn about the Wren Drive scene. But a warning at the Wren Drive scene is inapplicable to this case because no one was injured at Wren Dr. and SC-86.

Finally, the warning espoused in *Matthews v. Porter* is inapposite to the issue of whether Ms. Chappell should have provided warning at the corner of Wren Dr. and SC-86 about the powerlines prior to or after the firetrucks arrived at the corner of Wren Drive and SC-86. No one was injured at the corner of Wren Drive and SC-86. Therefore, whether a duty was breached by Ms. Chappell at the corner of Wren Drive and SC-86 does not relate to the evidence adduced in this case or the facts of *Matthews v. Porter* because no injury ever occurred at Wren Drive (*i.e.*, the scene of the powerline incident).

“The trial court is not required to instruct the jury on a principle of law that is irrelevant to the case as proved.” *Cantrell*, 339 S.C. at 390, 529 S.E.2d at 539. As proved, a jury instruction derived from *Matthews v. Porter* regarding warning of blocked lanes at the scene of an accident would be irrelevant to the case and confusing to the jury. Mr. Goodwin was not injured at the scene of an accident but instead was injured .22 miles away from the scene of an accident where no one was injured, making *Matthews v. Porter* wholly irrelevant.

4. Because the Circuit Court's proximate cause jury charge was the current and correct law of South Carolina, and because Plaintiffs failed to preserve the issue for appellate review, reversal is not warranted.

The Plaintiffs next argue that the use of the term “the direct cause” in explaining the meaning of proximate cause confused the jury and is grounds for a new trial. In order for the Plaintiffs to prevail on this argument, the issue must have been properly preserved for appellate

review via a “contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court,” *State v. Sweet*, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007), and the jury charge must fail to, as a whole, “charge the current and correct law.” *Stephens v. CSX Transp. Inc.*, 415 S.C. 197-198, 781 S.E.2d 534, 542 (2015). The issue was not preserved for appeal nor was it an incorrect statement of current South Carolina law.

A. The issue is not preserved for appellate review.

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, ‘[t]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit] court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the [circuit] court with sufficient specificity.’” *State v. Rosenbaum*, 438 S.C. 91, 108, 882 S.E.2d 180, 189 (Ct. App. 2022) (quoting *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal[.]” *Wilder Corp v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. *Id.*

Rule 51 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure states in relevant part: “no party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict.”

At the charge conference, Plaintiffs requested additional verbiage from the Circuit Court on the definition of proximate cause.¹ The Circuit Court accepted the request. (Tr. 962:4-5; R. 134). No objection was raised as it related to the word “direct” in the proximate cause charge. On the final day of trial, just prior to the bringing in of the jury and the trial court’s charging of the law, the Circuit Court asked the parties whether anything needed to be addressed outside the

¹ Plaintiffs also requested the “duty to warn” charge, briefed in Section 3 of this brief.

presence of the jury. No concerns were raised by Plaintiffs as to the use of the word “direct” in the definition of proximate cause. (Tr. 1057:14; R. 139).

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